Colicon 20 1 2/24

No. 72269-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK HEINZIG and JANE DOE HEINZIG, and their marital community, Appellant,

v.

SEOK HWANG and JANE/JOHN DOE HWANG, and their marital community, Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM SNOHOMISH COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Gary W. Manca Manca Law, PLLC 108 S Washington St, Suite 308 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-2096 gm@manca-law.com

Attorney for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

"Modern rules of procedure are intended to allow the court to reach the merits as opposed to disposition on technical niceties." Sheldon v. Fettig, 129 Wn.2d 601, 609, 919 P.2d 1209 (1996) (internal quotation marks and brackets omitted). Respondent Seok Hwang does not deny that he negligently injured appellant Mark Heinzig, nor does Hwang deny that he had actual notice of Heinzig's lawsuit before the statute of limitations had run. Instead, Hwang has asserted a procedural defense, insufficient service of process. But Hwang never filed an answer, and the record discloses no inquiry on his behalf into the sufficiency of service until at least seven months after an attorney first appeared on his behalf. By the time Hwang got around to filing a motion to dismiss, the statute of limitations period precluded Heinzig from curing any defect in service and refiling his suit. Hwang was dilatory in raising the defense. A contrary ruling would harm the civil-justice system. It would invite defendants to drag their feet, give them incentives to hide their procedural defenses, and shift the burden away from defendants to comply with their duties and towards plaintiffs to smoke out unstated defenses through expensive pretrial discovery.

Even if Hwang had not been dilatory, the service of the summons and complaint was valid under RCW 46.64.040, a substitute-service statute

"designed to minimize the procedural difficulties in bringing actions arising out of the use of the State's highways and the protection of persons and property within the State." *Martin v. Triol*, 121 Wn.2d 135, 147, 847 P.2d 471 (1993) (internal quotation marks and brackets omitted). Although the summons, the complaint, and a notice of service on the Secretary of State were mailed to Hwang's last known address, Hwang objected on the ground that Heinzig's attorney did not personally mail the documents. (CP 76.) Hwang's defense relied on a technical reading of RCW 46.64.040, ignoring the statute's legislative history and also the commandment of *Sheldon* to liberally construe the statute to give effect to service. RCW 46.64.040 was meant to aid the victims of negligence on state roads, not to ensnare them in procedural webs. The trial court's order of dismissal should be reversed and the case remanded.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred in granting respondent Seok Hwang's motion to dismiss appellant Mark Heinzig's complaint with prejudice.

ISSUES

This appeal presents two issues. If the Court rules in favor of Heinzig on the first issue, then it does not need to reach the second. The issues are:

I. Whether Hwang's delay in investigating and raising his procedural

defense was sufficiently serious or inexcusable to constitute a waiver.

II. Whether Heinzig sufficiently complied with the requirements of RCW 46.64.040 to effect service on Hwang.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Mark Heinzig alleged that respondent Seok Hwang drove negligently into him on June 5, 2010 on State Route 99 in Lynnwood, causing him bodily injury and damages. (CP 86.) Hwang never filed a pleading denying this allegation. (See CP 1-86.) On May 13, 2013, fewer than three years after the auto collision, the summons and complaint were filed. (CP 19 ¶ 2, 34-37.)

On May 17, staff from Heinzig's attorney's office emailed a copy of the summons and complaint to Hwang's attorney. (CP 20 ¶ 4, 25-27.) "As requested," the staff member wrote in the email to Hwang's attorney, "here is the complaint for Mark Heinzig." (CP 27.) The staff member for plaintiff's counsel continued, "You may send the stipulations via return email." (CP 27.) Hwang's attorney, using an email address with a domain name assigned to State Farm Insurance, immediately responded, "Got it. Thanks." (CP 27.) The email from Hwang's attorney did not, however, raise any concerns about service on Hwang. (See CP 27.) The staff member for plaintiff's counsel sent a follow-up email that same day stating, "at-

tached is the filed copy." (CP 26.) Hwang's attorney responded, "Thanks." (CP 26.) This second response email again did not mention anything about service on Hwang. (CP 26.) Three days later, Hwang's attorney signed a notice of appearance on behalf of him and his law firm, who were identified as "Employees of the Corporate Law Department of State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company." (CP 80-81.)

Heinzig's attorney came to believe Hwang had left the state, having seen three attempts at personal service reveal that Hwang did not reside at the three most-recent addresses believed to be Hwang's. (CP 30.) Heinzig's attorney postulated in a letter, "the Defendant lives out of the State of Washington." (CP 30).

On June 4, Heinzig's attorney mailed that letter, along with a copy of the summons and complaint and a declaration of diligence signed by the process server, to the Washington Secretary of State. (CP 20 ¶ 6, 29-39.) The letter stated that Hwang's last-known address was 3023 165th Place, Bothell, Washington. (CP 30.) The Secretary of State's Office returned a confirmation of service to Heinzig's attorney. (CP 31.) The signer of the confirmation stated that she was the "duly appointed and acting clerk in the office of the Secretary of State responsible for the receipt and handling of the service of process under the Washington state statute indicated."

(CP 31.) The confirmation stated that the Secretary of State's Office received the documents from Heinzig's attorney on June 7 and mailed a copy on June 10 by certified mail to the address given for Hwang. (CP 31-32.) On June 12, Heinzig's attorney's staff emailed Hwang's attorney with a copy of this confirmation of service from the Secretary of State's Office. (CP 20 ¶ 7, 28.) No response from Hwang's attorney appears in the record. (See CP 1-86.)

The certified mail was returned as undeliverable. (CP 32.)

By June 6, 2013—the day after the three-year anniversary of the collision— Hwang had not filed an answer. (See CP 70, 1-86.) By Monday, August 12—the first court day after the 90-day window¹ following plaintiff's filing of the summons and complaint—Hwang still had not filed an answer or any other document asserting that service-of-process was invalid or that the statute of limitations had run. (See CP 70, 1-86.)

¹CR 3(a) provides as follows: "An action shall not be deemed commenced for the purpose of tolling any statute of limitations except as provided in RCW 4.16.170."

RCW 4.16.170, in turn, provides as follows: "For the purpose of tolling any statute of limitations an action shall be deemed commenced when the complaint is filed or summons is served whichever occurs first. If service has not been had on the defendant prior to the filing of the complaint, the plaintiff shall cause one or more of the defendants to be served personally, or commence service by publication within ninety days from the date of filing the complaint. If the action is commenced by service on one or more of the defendants or by publication, the plaintiff shall file the summons and complaint within ninety days from the date of service. If following service, the complaint is not so filed, or following filing, service is not so made, the action shall be deemed to not have been commenced for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations." (Emphasis added.)

Over six months after Hwang's original attorney appeared, the attorney withdrew and a substitute attorney appeared for Hwang. (CP 78-79.) Still no answer came. (See CP 1-86.) Finally, on January 30, 2014, more than eight months after Hwang's first attorney signed a notice of appearance, Hwang filed a motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(2), (4), and (5), arguing improper service of process. (CP 49-77, 81.) Before then, Hwang still had not filed an answer or any other document asserting that service-of-process was invalid or that the statute of limitations had run. (See CP 1-86.)

The trial court issued a memorandum decision in favor of Hwang. Relying principally on *Harvey v. Obermeit*, 163 Wn. App. 311, 261 P.3d 671 (2011), the trial court found Hwang did not waive the defense of insufficient service. The trial court believed that a timely answer may have been properly filed after the limitations period, in which case Heinzig would not have had an opportunity to cure any defect in service. (CP 11.) The trial court believed the lack of defense pleadings and pre-trial discovery weighed against waiver. (*Id.*). The trial court also found the defendant did not know or had no reason to know that of the alleged defects in service. (*Id.*) Finally, the trial court argued that "the mere passage of time" did not work a waiver. (*Id.*) On the issue of the validity of service, the trial court

ruled for Hwang again. (*Id.*) Although the Secretary of State's Office had sent by certified mail a copy of the summons and complaint and other documents to the last-known address for Hwang, the trial court concluded that service did not sufficiently comply with RCW 46.64.040 because Heinzig had not also mailed the documents to Hwang's last known address. (*Id.*)

The trial court entered an order of dismissal with prejudice on July 3. (CP 3-4.) Heinzig timely filed a notice of appeal on August 1. (CP 1.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The trial court concluded that Hwang did not waive his defense of insufficient service of process. This decision was flawed and should be reversed, for two principal reasons. First, no Washington court appears to have permitted the initial assertion of this defense so long after the defendant had appeared and the limitations period had run. Second, Hwang's conduct was sufficiently dilatory to constitute waiver, because Hwang's delay was serious, he waited too unreasonably long to be pardoned in light of the harm to Heinzig, and Hwang failed to inquire into the potential defense with sufficient diligence. If the trial court's ruling were upheld, defendants would have more incentives to delay, fail to file response pleadings, obstruct the litigation process, and force plaintiffs to engage in expen-

sive pre-trial discovery and motions practice. The trial court's judgment should be reversed.

II. In the case of motorists who commit torts on Washington highways and then leave the state, the legislature has provided for substitute service under RCW 46.64.040. The first requirement of the statute is that the party seeking to effect service via the secretary of state must provide two copies of summons or process to the secretary of state and pay the appropriate fee. It is undisputed that Heinzig satisfied the first requirement. Where the court below erred was in holding that Heinzig failed to comply with the mailing requirements of the statute. Specifically, the court erred because (1) the Court declined to construe the statute liberally to effect service, as required by *Sheldon*; and (2) Heinzig caused mail to be sent to Hwang's last known address on June 10, 2013, and that mail contained all documents required under RCW 46.64.040.

ARGUMENT

I. HWANG WAIVED HIS DEFENSE OF INSUFFICIENT SERVICEOF PROCESS

A. The waiver issue is reviewed de novo

Whether a defendant has waived an affirmative defense by violating or undermining the Civil Rules is a mixed question for the court involving the application of law to the facts. When the material facts are not in dispute on appeal the reviewing court may apply the doctrine of waiver to the facts to reach its own independent judgment on the waiver question. See Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn.2d 29, 40, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000) ("It is ... appropriate for this court to apply the doctrine of waiver to the undisputed material facts to determine if the County is precluded from asserting the defense of insufficient service of process in this case."). Because the material facts appear to be undisputed in this case, the Court of Appeals should employ de novo review.

B. If the defendant appears, any defense of insufficient service must be raised by pleading or motion within 60 days of service under RCW 46.64.040

We begin with the formal requirements of the Superior Court Civil Rules. The Civil Rules require defendants to serve their answer within 60 days of service of the summons on the Secretary of State under RCW 46.64.040. CR 12(a)(3). The Civil Rules further require defendants to raise any defense of insufficient service of process in their answer or a motion to dismiss. CR 12(b), (b)(5). A defendant's violation of CR 12(b) is fatal to that affirmative defense: "The defense of insufficient service of process is waived if not asserted in a responsive pleading or motion under CR 12(b)(5)." Harvey v. Obermeit, 163 Wn. App. 311, 323, 261 P.3d 671 (2011) (citing French v. Gabriel, 116 Wn.2d 584, 588, 806 P.2d 1234

(1991)). This basis for waiver is formalized in CR 12(h)(1):

A defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person, improper venue, insufficiency of process, or insufficiency of service of process is waived (A) if omitted from a motion in the circumstances described in section (g), or (B) if it is neither made by motion under this rule nor included in a responsive pleading or an amendment thereof permitted by rule 15(a) to be made as a matter of course.

This basis for waiver is not at issue here, because Hwang did not omit the defense in his answer (he never filed one) and filed a motion to dismiss. (CP 49-77.) But Hwang's motion to dismiss fell well outside the formal timing requirements of the Civil Rules.

Whether by pleading or motion, if defendants raise the defense of insufficient process, they must first do so during the pleading stage of a case. This proposition follows from the intersection between the process of CR 12(b) and the timing rule of CR 12(a). Under CR 12(b), "[a] motion making any of these defenses [including insufficiency of process] shall be made before pleading if a further pleading is permitted." In other words, if defendants want to employ a motion, they must file it before their answer. Under CR 12(a), in turn, their answer is due within 60 days when service is on the Secretary of State. The Civil Rules presume the parties will comply, including by timely filing their pleadings. Thus, if defendants are to file a Rule 12(b)(5) motion before pleading their answer, they must do so within

the permissible timeframe for filing an answer.

To be sure, CR 12(h)(1) and the rest of the Civil Rules do not expressly provide for waiver of defenses not timely raised within the pleading window established in CR 12(a). Some courts have held that Rule 12(b) defenses are waived if not made before the deadline for the defendant's answer. See, e.g., Granger v. Kemm, Inc., 250 F. Supp. 644, 645 (D.C. Pa. 1966) (applying the federal analogue to CR 12(b)). This strictly applied waiver has been rejected in Washington, however, at least in circumstances where the defendant is only 11 days late in pleading improper venue in the answer. See Oltman v. Holland Am. Line USA, Inc., 163 Wn.2d 236, 243-45, 178 P.3d 981 (2008).

But defendants may not violate the Civil Rules with impunity. The question on appeal is not whether Hwang should be held to a rigid standard of formality and punished for failing to follow every letter of the rules. The question is whether Hwang's conduct was sufficiently dilatory that Hwang must be deemed to have waived the defense of insufficient service.

C. Although strict adherence to the Civil Rules' formal timing deadline is not required, defendants waive the defense of insufficient service if they are too dilatory in first raising it

In addition to the formal waiver rule set forth in CR 12(h)(1), the common law and equity supply two additional grounds for waiver of the defenses listed in CR 12(b), including insufficient service of process. See, e.g., Lybbert, 141 Wn.2d at 38 (referring to waiver in this context as a "common law doctrine"); Vozeh v. Good Samaritan Hospital, 84 F.R.D. 143, 144 (D.C.N.Y., 1979) (denying the defendant's motion to dismiss for insufficient service because the defendant was "clearly guilty of laches and to a degree worthy of condemnation"). First, the affirmative defense of insufficient service of process will be waived "if the defendant's counsel has been dilatory in asserting the defense." Lybbert, 141 Wn.2d at 39 (citing Raymond v. Fleming, 24 Wn. App. 112, 115, 600 P.2d 614 (1979)). Second, it will be waived "if the defendant's assertion of the defense is inconsistent with the defendant's previous behavior." Id. at (citing Romjue v. Fairchild, 60 Wn. App. 278, 281, 803 P.2d 57 (1991)). Not only in Washington, but also "the common law doctrine of waiver enjoys a healthy existence in courts throughout the country." Lybbert, 141 Wn.2d at 39.

Each of the two grounds for waiver is independent and sufficient, and the courts will consider them separately. This point is exemplified in *Harvey*. The Court of Appeals concluded the defendant was not dilatory because he pleaded in his answer the defense of insufficient service of process. 163 Wn. App. at 323. Nevertheless, the Court considered the remaining question of whether the defendant's litigation conduct before filing a

motion to dismiss was inconsistent with his assertion of the defense. See id. As Harvey and other cases show, the appellate courts have been unwavering in defining the two alternative grounds for waiver as distinct from each other. See, e.g., King v. Snohomish County, 146 Wn.2d 420, 424, 47 P.3d 563, 565 (2002) ("[A]defendant may waive an affirmative defense if either (1) assertion of the defense is inconsistent with defendant's prior behavior or (2) the defendant has been dilatory in asserting the defense." (emphasis added) (citing Lybbert, 141 Wn.2d at 39)); Raymond, 24 Wn. App. at 115 ("A defendant's conduct through his counsel ... may be 'sufficiently dilatory or inconsistent with the later assertion of one of these defenses [CR 8 defenses] to justify declaring a waiver.' "(emphasis added) (quoting 5 C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1344, at 526 (1969))).

This doctrine of waiver "is sensible" and serves critical functions, helping "to foster and promote 'the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.'" *Lybbert*, 141 Wn.2d at 39 (quoting CR 1). If defendants used pleading delays as a litigation tactic without any adverse effect on their own claims and defenses, the goals of the Civil Rules would be undermined. *Id.*. It not a supposition to say some defendants would routinely delay complying with duties under CR 12; it is empirical reality. In

Lybbert, for example, the defendant admitted in the record that it "'routinely avoid[s] answering a complaint, until a motion for default is brought.'" 141 Wn.2d at 43 (quoting record). The doctrine of waiver must be enforced in order to create a disincentive for this type of behavior. As the Supreme Court observed when contemplating discovery abuses, "Misconduct, once tolerated, will breed more misconduct and those who might seek relief against abuse will instead resort to it in self-defense." Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 355, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993) (internal quotation marks omitted).

With these principles in the backdrop, we now turn to Hwang's assertion of the defense of insufficient process. On appeal, the issue of waiver is not based on an argument that Hwang's conduct before filing the motion to dismiss was inconsistent with his assertion of the defense. Instead, the issue of waiver thus turns on whether Hwang or his counsel was dilatory in asserting the defense.

D. Hwang was sufficiently dilatory to waive the defense

Hwang was dilatory. Of course, a defendant's "mere delay in filing an answer does not constitute a waiver of an insufficient service defense." French, 116 Wn.2d at 593-94 (internal quotation omitted). But French cannot be read to broadly to eliminate dilatory conduct as a basis for waiver. A

defendant's delay may become seriously lengthy, harmful, or otherwise inexcusable to be sufficiently dilatory to constitute waiver. This principle emerges from the cases on waiver, including *French*, as well as CR 6. As applied here, it demonstrates the trial court erred in failing to find waiver.

1. Hwang's delay was serious enough by itself to constitute waiver

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