Court of Appeals No. 72269-7-I

#### COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK HEINZIG and JANE DOE HEINZIG, and their marital community, *Appellant*,

v.

SEOK HWANG and JANE/JOHN DOE HWANG, and their marital community, *Respondents*.

## ON APPEAL FROM SNOHOMISH COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

#### RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Jill Smith, WSBA #30645
Bret S. Simmons, WSBA #25558
ROY, SIMMONS, SMITH & PARSONS, P.S.
1223 Commercial Street
Bellingham, Washington 98225
(360) 752-2000
Attorneys for Respondents
jill@royandsimons.com
bret@royandsimmons.com

###

#### I. Introduction and Position Statement

Plaintiff failed to comply with the requirements of the "Secretary of State method" for accomplishing substitute service on an out-of-state resident. And, it was not a minor failure. His attorney never even created the affidavit of compliance which the statute requires, much less personally mailed it to the defendant. Plaintiff's attempt at substitute service was incomplete, and the Statute of Limitations ran. The case was subject to dismissal for failure of service of process, and that is exactly what Judge Farris did, at the trial court level.

Now, on appeal, plaintiff again argues:

- Defendant waived the right to assert "insufficiency of process," by not filing his Answer; and
- b. Plaintiff's attempt at substitute service was "good enough."
  The trial court got it right. Defendant did not waive his service defenses, and plaintiff's attempt at substitute service was invalid. This Court should affirm Judge Farris.

#### II. Statement of Undisputed Facts

Plaintiff Heinzig and defendant Hwang had a motor vehicle collision on June 5, 2010. (CP at 17-19) (Decl. of Simmons, ¶ 2). Plaintiff claims that

he sustained personal injury.

Plaintiff filed a Summons and Complaint with this Court on May 13, 2013. He still had until the Statute of Limitations ran to accomplish valid service on defendant Hwang. RCW 4.16.080. Because the filing was accomplished with *less than* 90 days left on the statute, there was a 90 day tolling period under RCW 4.16.170.

On May 14, 2013, plaintiff provided copies of his Summons and Complaint to a professional process service, North Sound Due Process, LLC., apparently with instructions to effect personal service of process. Registered Process Server, Debra Gorecki, made three unsuccessful attempts to effect service. (CP at 21-22). Then, she prepared and signed a Declaration of Diligence dated June 4, 2013, which detailed her actions. (CP 21-22) (Decl. of Simmons, Exhibit #1).

On or about June 7, 2013, plaintiff's counsel began trying to accomplish "substitute service," using the method provided in RCW 46.64.040. He sent a copy of the Summons and Complaint for Personal Injury and Damages to the Washington Secretary of State, Corporations Division. (CP 47). Along with it, he also sent process server Gorecki's Declaration of Diligence. (CP 21-22).

The only other document, for purposes of service, was a cover letter.

Respondents' Brief - 5

(CP 57). Counsel's cover letter, which is not in the form of a Declaration or Affidavit (see CP 57), states that numerous attempts had been made to serve the Summons and Complaint on defendant Hwang; that he had attempted to trace the defendant through People Search and Property Search and that he was enclosing an "Affidavit of Due Diligence" from North Sound Due Process Service. He provided the last known address of the defendant. (See CP 57).

Counsel's letter was not an "Affidavit of the Plaintiff's Attorney," as the statute requires, because it: (a) did not have any "penalty of perjury" attached to it; and (b) did not aver that plaintiff's attorney has with due diligence attempted to serve personal process upon the defendant *at all addresses* known to him." Instead, it was merely a "Dear Secretary of State" cover letter. (CP 57).

On June 10, 2013, the Secretary of State sent the Summons and Complaint by certified mail, to the last known address of defendant. (CP 58). On June 12, 2013, that letter was marked "Return to Sender, Not Deliverable As Addressed, Unable to Forward." (CP 59).

Then, the process stopped. There is no indication in the court file, nor in the Secretary of State's materials, that plaintiff's counsel *ever* took the next two steps required by RCW 46.64.040—"that notice of such service and

a copy of the summons or process is <u>forthwith sent by registered mail with return receipt requested</u>, <u>by plaintiff to the defendant</u> at the last known address of the said defendant, and the <u>plaintiff's affidavit of compliance</u> herewith are appended to the process, together with the <u>affidavit of the plaintiff's attorney</u> that the attorney has with due diligence attempted to serve personal process upon the defendant at all addresses known to him or her of defendant, and further listing in his or her affidavit the addresses at which he or she attempted to have process served." Instead, the record shows that the last thing plaintiff's attorney did was to deliver the papers to the Secretary of State.

Defendant Hwang has never been personally served. Nor has any substitute service been fully accomplished.

#### III. Governing Legal Authorities

#### A. Strict Compliance with Substitute Service Statutes

First and basic to personal jurisdiction is service of process. *Pascua v. Heil*, 126 Wash.App. 520, 108 P.3d 1253 (2005); *Painter v. Olney*, 37 Wn.App. 424, 427, 680 P.2d 1066, *review denied*, 102 Wn.2d 1002 (1984). And, a court cannot adjudicate a personal claim or obligation without personal jurisdiction over that party. *Vanderbilt v. Vanderbilt*, 354 U.S. 416,

418, 77 S.Ct. 1360, 1362, 1 L.Ed.2d 1456 (1957); *In re Marriage of Powell*, 84 Wn.App. 432, 927 P.2d 1154 (1996). Said differently, a court cannot adjudicate a claim in which the defendants have not been properly served. Any action it took, and any judgment it entered, would be void. *See Dobbins v. Mendoza*, 88 Wn.App. 862, 947 P.2d 1229 (1997); *Scott v. Goldman*, 82 Wash.App. 1, 6, 917 P.2d 131 (1996) (When a court lacks personal jurisdiction over a party, any judgment entered against that party is void).

#### B. Requirements of RCW 46.64.040

In this case, the only way that plaintiff allegedly accomplished service on Hwang is through RCW 46.64.040—the Secretary of State method. Therefore, it is the terms of that statute with which he must strictly comply.

RCW 46.64.040 provides, in pertinent part:

Service of such summons or process shall be made by *leaving* two copies thereof with a fee [STEP #1] established by the secretary of state by rule with the secretary of state of the state of Washington, or at the secretary of state's office, and such service shall be sufficient and valid personal service upon said resident or nonresident: PROVIDED, That notice of such service and a copy of the summons or process is forthwith sent by registered mail with return receipt requested, by plaintiff to the defendant [STEP #2] at the last known address of the said defendant, and the plaintiff's affidavit of compliance herewith are appended to the process, together with the affidavit of the plaintiff's attorney that the attorney has with due diligence attempted to serve personal process [STEP #3] upon the defendant at all addresses known to him or her of defendant and further listing in his or her affidavit the addresses at which he or she attempted to have process served. However, if process is forwarded by registered mail and defendant's endorsed receipt is received and entered as a part of the return of process then the foregoing affidavit of plaintiff's attorney need only show that the defendant received personal delivery by mail: PROVIDED FURTHER, That personal service outside of this state in accordance with the provisions of law relating to personal service of summons outside of this state shall relieve the plaintiff from mailing a copy of the summons or process by registered mail as hereinbefore provided. The secretary of state shall forthwith send one of such copies by mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the defendant at the defendant's address, if known to the secretary of state. The court in which the action is brought may order such continuances as may be necessary to afford the defendant reasonable opportunity to defend the action. The fee paid by the plaintiff to the secretary of state shall be taxed as part of his or her costs if he or she prevails in the action. The secretary of state shall keep a record of all such summons and processes, which shall show the day of service.

In other words, RCW 46.64.040 provides a relatively straight-forward procedure for accomplishing substitute service. To perfect service of process under this statute, the plaintiff must: (1) deliver two copies of the Summons and Complaint to the Secretary of State with the required fee and supporting information; (2) either personally serve the defendant with a copy of the summons and notice of service on the Secretary, or send the same documents by registered mail, return receipt requested to the defendant at his last known address; and (3) when performing Step #2, the attorney must attach, to Step #2, an *affidavit from the attorney* certifying compliance with these procedures. See *Clay v. Portik*, 84 Wn.App. 553, 929 P.2d 1132 (1997).

Specifically, because the statute contains Steps 2 and 3, the attorney

must do two things <u>after</u> having provided documents to the Secretary: (a) he must also send the Secretary of State service documents to the defendant by registered mail, and (b) he must attach, to that mailing, an affidavit by the attorney himself, certifying his compliance. RCW 46.64.040. This statutory procedure is such that there is a reasonable probability that if plaintiff complies with the procedure, defendant will receive actual notice. *Meier*, 111 Wn.2d at 482; see also *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314, 70 S.Ct. 652, 657, 94 L.Ed. 865 (1950).

Notably, the fact that the Secretary of State sends the Summons and Complaint to the same, last-known address, is not enough. The statute specifically provides, in the final section, that the Secretary will do so. However, it *also* requires, above, that the attorney do so, also. Further, the Secretary's mailing must go by *certified* mail—the attorney's mailing must go by *registered* mail. These two mailings cannot be "conflated"—the attorney's failure is not excused by the Secretary's compliance. Both mailings are required. RCW 46.64.040.

#### C. If strict compliance is not made, dismissal is mandatory.

Constructive or substituted service statues require strict procedural compliance. *Martin v. Triol*, 121 Wn.2d 135, 144, 847 P.2d 471 (1993). Substitute service is in derogation of the common law and cannot be used

when personal service is possible. Strict compliance with the statute is required. *Rodriguez v. James-Jackson*, 127 Wn. App. 139, 111 P.3d at 271 (2005).

The procedures set forth under RCW 46.64.040 'must be strictly adhered to, otherwise jurisdiction is not obtained under the statute.' *Meier*, 111 Wn.2d at 479 (citing *Muncie v. Westcraft Corp.*, 58 Wn.2d 36, 38, 360 P.2d 744 (1961); *Reynolds v. Richardson*, 53 Wn.2d 82, 330 P.2d 1014 (1958)); see also *Triol*, 121 Wn.2d at 144 ('It is appropriate to require strict compliance with the detailed procedures for service of process set forth in RCW 46.64.040.').

When a plaintiff fails to strictly comply and therefore fails to obtain valid service under RCW 46.64.040, and the statute of limitations has run, the court does not have personal jurisdiction, and dismissal is the only legitimate remedy. *Harvey v. Obermeit*, 163 Wash.App. 311, 261 P.3d 671 (2011).

#### IV. No Waiver Occurred

Plaintiff's first category of responses all fall under the idea of "Waiver by Delay." He contends that the defense was so dilatory in filing its Answer that it should be deemed to have waived any and all service defenses. Each of plaintiff's "waiver" arguments is addressed in turn.

#### A. There is no "60 day" cut-off for CR 12(h)(1) motions.

Plaintiff's first argument on appeal is that because Answers should be filed within 60 days, this Court should adopt an ipso facto "bar" against CR 12(h)(1) motions filed after 60 days. (Appellant's Opening Brief, at 9-10). He concedes that "this strictly applied waiver has been rejected in Washington," (Appellant's Opening Brief, at 11), but argues that it should control. It should not, for the reasons stated in *Oltman v. Holland Am. Line USA, Inc.*, 163 Wn.2d 236, 243-45, 178 P3d 981 (2008).

#### B. A Delayed Answer is Not a Waiver

Plaintiff's second argument on appeal is that this defendant was simply "too dilatory" in raising its defense. Since this defendant exceeded the "5 month" cut-off that occurred in *French v. Gabriel*, plaintiff argues that the defendant passed the "too dilatory" threshold, and argues that "a line must be drawn in this case." (Appellant's Opening Brief, at 17).

This is incorrect, as a matter of law. Although plaintiff cites *French* v. *Gabriel*, 116 Wash. 2d 584, 806 P.2d 1234 (1991), he misrepresents it. The holding of *French* is this:

"Mere delay in filing an answer <u>does not constitute a waiver</u> of an insufficient service defense."

In other words, French stands for exactly the opposite of what plaintiff is

Respondents' Brief - 12

arguing! *French* contains no "bright line"cut-off, after the 5 month mark.

Instead, in reaching its holding, the *French* court made the following observations:

- a. plaintiff's counsel never asked for an answer;
- b. defendant never sought an extension of time to answer;
- c. plaintiff's counsel did nothing to move for a default;
- d. there were no conversations between the parties about the issue, and no "deceptive" or misleading comments made, to create an appearance of waiver;
- e. no discovery occurred;
- f. no other pleadings or other documents were filed.

Given those facts—the mere filing of a lawsuit then a delay in answering, without anything else—the *French* Court held that there is no waiver.

#### C. "Short" versus "Long" delay

Plaintiff urges this Court to adopt a new rule, that "short delay" is not waiver (i.e., French), but "long delay" might be. He cites to not-on-point cases like Blankenship v. Kaldor, 114 Wn.App. 312, 315, 57 P.3d 295 (2002) (where defendant engaged in written and oral discovery before raising the defense); and Kahclamat v. Yakima County, 31 Wn. App. 464, 466, 643 P.2d 453 (1982) (where defendant did not include the defense in his first

responsive pleading, violating CR 12).

This is the wrong case for carving a new rule out of whole cloth. Here, as the trial court found, the Answer was not even due <u>until after the statute of limitations had expired</u>. (CP at 74-75). As Judge Farris stated, "Even if defendant answered timely at the end of 60 days and asserted improper service, there would have been insufficient time to remedy the service defect." (CP at 75). Therefore, this is not a case where "long delay" caused plaintiff to miss the statute.

Plaintiff also argues from *Raymond v. Fleming*, 24 Wash App. 112, 115, 600 P.2d 614 (1979), for this idea of a "bright line" rule. In reality, the Raymond holding is instructive, in defendant's favor. In *Raymond*:

- a. plaintiff asked defendant repeatedly for the overdue Answer;
- b. defendant repeatedly asked for extensions to file the Answer;
- plaintiff sent interrogatories to defendant, which defendant did not answer.

The *Raymond* court found that defendant's conduct had been instrumental in causing the plaintiff to miss the statute of limitations. Raymond is not a "delay" case, but a "deception" case.

Here, the facts are much closer to *French*. The *only* activity that occurred was the filing of a Complaint. The statute of limitations then ran.

Then, the defense filed an Answer. Prior to defendant filing his Answer, Plaintiff never asked for one. He never sent discovery, inquiring about service issues. And, he certainly never moved to compel an Answer. Even if the defense did not file an Answer within 60 days, that *is not a waiver*, under the clear holding of *French*, which is still-controlling law. Again, the Statute of Limitations ran before the Answer would have been received. Therefore, there has been no waiver. *French*, *supra*, at 593-94.

#### V. Plaintiff did not comply with the substitute service statute

Plaintiff's next body of arguments is about his "substantial compliance" with the substitute service statute. Plaintiff did not even substantially comply, because he never generated one of the key documents—an attorney's affidavit of compliance. Furthermore, substantial compliance is not the law.

#### A. Strict compliance is still the law after Sheldon.

Plaintiff argues, at pages 28-30 of his Appellant's Brief, that "substantial compliance" is the law. He contends now, like he did in the trial court, that the case of *Sheldon v. Fettig*, decided under the "usual place of abode" provision of RCW 4.28.080(15), has relaxed the legal requirements imposed by RCW 46.64.040 (the Secretary of State service statute). Under

plaintiff's argument, *Sheldon* "undid" *all* of the specific requirements of the various "substitute service" statutes, and now, simply allows substantial compliance with any and all "substitute service" statutes.

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